1979

Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science, A Utah Body Politic and Corporate v. Bear Stearns & Co., A Corporation v. Phillif A. Bullen, Jay R. Bingham, O. C. Hammond, Jay Dee Harris, Beverly D. Kumpfer, Snell Olsen, Rex G. Plowman, W. B. Robins, Alva C. Snow, William R. Stockdal Jane S. Tibbals, Glen L. Taggart, Dee A. Broadbent, L. Mark Neuberger, Donald A. Catron, John Does, the Institutional Council of Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science : Brief of Appellants Bear Steads &, Sutro & . Co. , Incorporated, Hornblower If Weeks-Hemphill,

---

#### Recommended Citation

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

In these related actions, appellee and plaintiff Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science (hereinafter "the University") seeks to recover from appellants and defendants third-party plaintiffs (hereinafter "the broker-dealers") various losses allegedly arising from an investment program which it conducted from September 1970 to March 1973, on the sole ground that its securities purchases were ultra vires. The broker-dealers filed third-party indemnity actions based on misrepresentation against members of the University's Institutional Council and others who represented on numerous occasions by official corporate resolution that the University did have the power that the University now contends it lacks.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On January 3, 1979, the trial court entered orders in all these cases (1) granting the University's motions against all broker-dealers for partial summary judgment on the issue of liability, and (2) denying the broker-dealers' motions to dismiss the University's complaints for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. At the same time it also entered final judgment dismissing all third-party actions and counterclaims instituted by the broker-dealers. All broker-dealers appealed from those final judgments and also filed petitions for intermediate appeal from the court's order granting the

University's motion for partial summary judgment and denying the broker-dealers' motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim.<sup>1/</sup>

All broker-dealers but Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. also filed motions to dismiss for lack of in personam jurisdiction and Merrill Lynch filed a motion for change of venue. These motions were denied.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The broker-dealers seek reversal of the trial court's order granting the University's motions for partial summary judgment and denying their motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim and request that this Court remand the case with instructions to enter judgment in favor of the broker-dealers pursuant to their motions to dismiss. If this Court does not order dismissal of the University's complaints, the broker-dealers seek, in the alternative, reversal of the trial court's entry of partial summary judgment and an order from this Court remanding the case for trial. The broker-dealers also seek an order reversing the trial court's dismissal of the broker-dealers' counterclaims and third-party complaints. In the alternative to the dismissal of the University's complaints, the broker-dealers also seek reversal of the orders denying their motions to dismiss for lack of in personam jurisdiction and, in the Merrill Lynch action only, reversal of the order denying its motion for change of venue.

---

1. Subsequently, this Court granted the brokers' petitions for intermediate appeal and consolidated the two sets of appeals.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Introduction

A brief summary of the genesis and development of this litigation may assist the Court in understanding the posture of these cases before it proceeds to review the ensuing detailed discussion of the facts.

In 1970, University officers, at the direction of the University's Institutional Council, launched a new and aggressive investment program and began opening accounts with the defendant broker-dealers so that the University could buy and sell securities, including common stocks.<sup>2/</sup> The program was "aggressive" in the sense that it was not restricted to the classes of securities historically purchased by institutional investors.<sup>3/</sup> All those accounts were opened pursuant to official corporate resolutions adopted by the Institutional Council which represented to the broker-dealers that the University had power to purchase the securities at issue.<sup>4/</sup>

Once the broker-dealers had received those express warranties from the Council, they carried out the hundreds of orders for pur-

---

2. Exhibit 49 to all depositions; Robins depo. at 18-19. Each exhibit identified herein is part of one set of exhibits utilized in all these depositions.

3. September 19, 1970 Institutional Council resolution addressed to Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., Exs. 7, 8 and 9.

4. Copy of resolution of January 20, 1972 is attached hereto as Appendix B. Institutional Council adoption of first resolution to Merrill Lynch on September 19, 1970, Exhibits 8 and 9 to depositions; Council adoption of resolutions on January 16, 1971 and April 24, 1971 to broker-dealers not parties to these appeals, Exs. 16, 86 (minutes of January 16, 1971 meeting), 38; Council adoption of resolution on January 20, 1972 sent to all broker-dealers, Exs. 86 (minutes of January 20, 1972 meeting) and 33; Council adoption of second specific resolution addressed to Merrill Lynch on September 30, 1972, Ex. 46. Receipt of resolutions by broker-dealers: Merrill Lynch, R. 1437-39; Bear Stearns, R. 2003; Sutro, R. 125-26; Hornblower, R. Vol. 22, 1975. In all instances in which similar documents appear in all files, citations herein will be to the Bear Stearns file only.

Sponsored by the U.S. Judiciary Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services under the provisions of the eLibrary Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

chases and sales of common stock placed by Mr. Catron, the University's investment officer. In almost all of those instances the broker-dealers acted only as agents for the University and its purchasers or sellers, and only on a few occasions did any of them make recommendations that the University purchase any particular stock.<sup>5/</sup>

The University heirarchy never once advised the broker-dealers during this time that it might possibly lack power to make the investments which it regularly ordered them to make on its behalf, even though it had ready access to the legal staff of the Utah Attorney General's office. After all of the transactions here at issue had been fully executed, a general economic recession occurred and the University's portfolio declined in value.

The University then instituted suit in federal court against all these broker-dealers, suing on various provisions of the federal securities laws and also raising claims essentially identical to those claims presently before this Court on these state court actions.<sup>6/</sup> Judge Anderson of the United States District Court for the District of

---

5. Defendant Hornblower acted only as an agent for the University in all of these transactions. Affidavit of Peter A. Nalewaik of July 21, 1976, Hornblower, R. 73. Defendant Sutro acted only as an agent for the University in every transaction but one. It acted as a principal in the University's transactions for Hanover Square debentures, but that single transaction comprises an insignificant part of the University's claim against it. Supplemental Affidavit of Felix M. Juda, Sutro, R. 1973. Defendant Bear Stearns acted primarily as an agent for the University, and acted as principal only in those transactions listed in the Affidavit of David Cranston, dated July 28, 1977, Bear Stearns, R. 1998.

6. The University's subsequent appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit is a reported decision of which this Court may take judicial notice. Utah State Univ. of Agriculture and Applied Science v. Bear, Stearns & Co., 549 F.2d 164 (10th Cir. 1977). A cursory review of the first few pages of that decision, in which the appeals court discussed the nature of the University's claims, demonstrates the similarity of its claims in federal court to its claims in state court. The appellate court also expressly noted the fact that the University there alleged pendant claims under state law. Id. at 166.

Utah granted the broker-dealers' motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment in those actions, all of which were based upon the broker-dealers' assertion that the University failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted,<sup>7/</sup> and the University then unsuccessfully appealed that ruling to the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit and sought certiorari to the United States Supreme Court, which was denied.<sup>8/</sup>

The Tenth Circuit's decision was a unanimous ruling that the University's theory of recovery, including its theory of selective recission, was untenable. One passage in that decision is a cogent summary of the broker-dealers' position on the present appeals:<sup>9/</sup>

The argument that the brokers are liable because they should have known that the stock purchases by USU were illegal under Utah law does not impress us. USU seeks to take advantage of its own wrongful acts. It would retain the profits which it has made and recover from the brokers the losses which it has sustained. An ultra vires act of an institutional customer may not be converted into a wrongful act of a broker.

At that point, the University then instituted suit in state court, raising in that forum the common law claims which it had unsuccessfully raised as pendent causes of action in its federal suits.

It should be noted at this point that the broker-dealers are not appealing herein from the trial court's dismissal of their third-party actions against the Institutional Council as an entity, but are appealing only those third-party judgments entered in favor of the indivi-

---

7. The brokers' motions to dismiss, and the motion of Merrill Lynch for judgment on the pleadings rather than to dismiss, are discussed in the Tenth Circuit's opinion in Utah State University, supra, id. at 171.

8. 434 U.S. 890 (1977).

9. 549 F.2d at 168 **emphasis added**

duals who were on the Council or were University officers. Nor do the broker-dealers appeal herein from judgments entered in favor of the two banks whom they had sued on third-party actions below. To summarize, these appeals are concerned only with the following rulings:

1. The trial court's entry of partial summary judgment in favor of the University and its denial of the broker-dealers' motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim;

2. The court's dismissal of the broker-dealers' counterclaims;

3. The court's dismissal of the broker-dealers' third-party actions against Institutional Council members and University officers in their individual capacities; and

4. The court's denial of the broker-dealers' motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and Merrill Lynch's motion for change of venue.

A. The University's Investment Program.

Not one of the facts presented here has been controverted by any party. All of these facts except those identified as deposition testimony or exhibits were presented to the trial court before it dismissed the broker-dealers' third party actions and counterclaims, and all these facts were presented to the court before it granted the University's motions for partial summary judgment.<sup>10/</sup>

10. Many of the facts set forth herein were first presented to the court below at length in the brokers' joint memorandum in support of their motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, filed May 16, 1977. Bear Stearns, R. 553. Each of the ultimate facts asserted in opposition to the third party defendants' motions to dismiss and for summary judgment are pled in the brokers' third party complaints and summarized at 4-8 of the brokers' joint memorandum in opposition to those motions to dismiss, alternative motions for summary judgment, and the University's motion to dismiss the counterclaims, filed on November 3, 1977. Bear Stearns, R. 1151.

Finally, all the facts set forth herein were argued to the court below in the brokers' joint memorandum in opposition to the University's motions for partial summary judgment, filed May 16, 1978. Bear Stearns, R. 2005. The court below inadvertently omitted to file that memorandum with the Suto pleadings, but it was aware that the identical memorandum was filed in all four cases, and the memorandum bears a designation for the Suto case on its face.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services. Auxiliary Services and Technology Act administered by the U.S. National Library of Medicine.

1. Origin of the Investment Program and Policy.

In response to criticism from State officials of the University's practice of leaving idle cash balances in local banks,<sup>11/</sup> and in order to increase the University's financial resources, the Institutional Council formulated and launched the University's securities investment program in mid-1970. Virtually all of the hundreds of securities purchased by the University between mid-1970 and March 1973 (the period at issue) were of a kind not designated in Utah Code Ann. §33-1-1.

One of the first actions the Institutional Council took in embarking upon the investment program was to approve a formal corporate resolution on September 19, 1970, addressed to defendant Merrill Lynch. The resolution stated, inter alia, that the University was "authorized and empowered to open and maintain an account with Merrill Lynch . . . for the purchase and sale of stocks, bonds or securities . . .," that the University's Vice President of Business and Treasurer, Dee A. Broadbent, and its Controller, Donald A. Catron, were authorized to place orders for securities on the University's behalf, and that the resolution would remain in effect until revoked in writing.<sup>12/</sup>

On the same day, the Institutional Council commissioned President Taggart to form an investment committee for the purpose of formulating an investment policy.<sup>13/</sup> The investment committee was composed of

---

11. In the summer of 1970 the Governor of Utah reduced the University's budget by two percent. Glen Taggart depo. at 33. In response to University President Taggart's inquiry as to how the University might make up this loss, the State Board of Higher Education advised the University by letter to invest its idle funds. Id. at 33-34. A few months prior to this, the Utah State Auditor had criticized the University for leaving idle large excess cash balances in local bank accounts. Ex. 4.

12. Exs. 7, 8, 9, Bear Stearns, R. 2003.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

13. Ex. 7.

three members of the Institutional Council<sup>14/</sup> and three members of the University administration.<sup>15/</sup>

In order to formulate such a policy, and after the University had already been engaged for several months in purchasing securities not mentioned in Utah Code Ann. §33-1-1, certain members of the Investment Committee<sup>16/</sup> and Catron and Broadbent attended an investment seminar in San Francisco sponsored by the Ford Foundation on the subject of securities investments by institutions of higher learning.<sup>17/</sup> They returned with a Ford Foundation report entitled Managing Educational Endowments,<sup>18/</sup> and Councilman Plowman gave an oral report on the seminar to the entire Council on February 23, 1971.<sup>19/</sup>

Three of the themes put forward by the Ford Foundation at the seminar, and in the publication prepared by it, influenced and became a part of the University's investment program. One theme was that in the past those who managed portfolios of educational institutions had lost, because of inflation, more money by being conservative in securities investments than by being aggressive, and that portfolio managers should move from fixed income securities to equity securities, i.e.

---

14. Council Chairman Bullen and Councilmen Plowman and Stockdale. Ex. 10.

15. Vice President Dee Broadbent, Donald A. Catron, and Jerry Sherrat. Id.

16. Council Chairman Bullen and Councilman Plowman. Plowman depo. at 24; Ex. 17 at 6.

17. Id.

18. Stockdale depo. at 34-35; Ex. 96.

19. Ex. 17 at 6-7, Institutional Council meeting minutes of February 23, 1971.

to stocks.<sup>20/</sup>

The Ford Foundation report also recommended that institutions not be restricted to "conventional blue chips" in common stock investments.<sup>21/</sup> The report stated<sup>22/</sup> that the traditional reason for investing in blue chips

largely disappears when the primary emphasis is shifted from avoiding losses to maximizing the long-term return. . . . With a rapid advance in technology and the resulting growth of major new industries, many of the smaller and newer companies are growing far more rapidly than the big ones, and their stocks can offer rewards sufficiently large to completely outweigh any additional risks.

A third theme of the Ford Foundation report was that decisions to purchase or sell particular securities should be delegated to a single manager with regular review by the institution's trustees.<sup>23/</sup>

The University incorporated all these principles into its investment program. It subsequently invested in numerous common stocks, some of which could not be called "blue chips," and delegated the day-to-day decisions to buy and sell to a single individual, Mr. Catron. The identity, costs, sales prices, and current value of all the securities purchased by the University were all reported to the Investment

---

20. Ex. 96.

21. Ex. 96 at 16.

22. Id. at 31-32.

23. Id. at 31.

Committee and the Institutional Council on a regular and periodic basis.<sup>24/</sup>

2. The Council Authorizes A Margin Account.

In January 1972 the Council approved a new "broader" corporate resolution, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix B, which represented that the University had power to purchase "securities of every nature on margin or otherwise," and which again authorized Broadbent and Catron to purchase and sell securities on the University's behalf.<sup>25/</sup> A copy of this resolution went to each of the broker-dealers.<sup>26/</sup> At the time this resolution was approved by the Council, at least five Council members fully understood what a margin account with a securities brokerage firm was and understood that it involved borrowing from the brokerage firm.<sup>27/</sup>

Councilman Olsen, then Chairman of the Business Affairs Committee, testified in his deposition that there was "quite a discussion"

---

24. E.g., Broadbent depo. at 100; Hammond depo. at 17, 27; Taggart depo. at 120-29; Plowman depo. at 30-31; Bingham depo. at 12-13; Stockdale depo. at 42. Typical of those reports are Exs. 30 and 43. Admissions by Institutional Council members that they had received and reviewed such reports appear at, e.g., Harris depo. at 26, 50; Plowman depo. at 30-31; Stockdale depo. at 42. Furthermore, the minutes of the Business Affairs Committee meeting of June 26, 1971, record the distribution to all Council members of the March 31, 1971 investment position, which appears as the second to last page of Ex. 23. The Business Affairs Committee meeting minutes of March 25, 1972 record that the report of securities held by the University as of February 29, 1972 was distributed to all but two of the Council members. Ex. 86, March 25, 1972 meeting; Ex. 36.

25. Ex. 86, January 20, 1972 meeting; approval of the resolution by the Institutional Council as reflected in the Council meeting minutes of that day, Ex. 33 at 4.

26. See note 4 supra.

27. Council members Bullen, Hammond, Harris, Olsen and Bingham. Bullen depo. at 38, Hammond depo. at 11, Harris depo. at 25, Olsen depo. at 40, Bingham depo. at 9.

about this new resolution, and that Councilmen Harris and Robins expressed concern about the University purchasing securities on margin at that meeting.<sup>28/</sup> Notwithstanding those concerns, the new resolution was approved by the Council and was subsequently forwarded to all broker-dealers. A margin account, however, was opened with Merrill Lynch only, and interest paid to Merrill Lynch by the University on that account.

3. Initial Success of the Investment Program.

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