1979

Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science, A Utah Body Politic and Corporate v. Bear Stearns & Co., A Corporation v. Phillip A. Bullen, Jay R. Bingham, O.C. Hammond, Jay Dee Harris, Beverly D. Kumpfer, Snell Olsen, Rex G. Plowman, W. B. Robins, Alva C. Snow, William R. Stockdale, Jane S. Tibbals, Glen L. Taggart, Dee A. Broadbent, L. Mark Neuberger, Donald A. Catron, John Does, the Industrial Council of Utah State University of

Part of the [Law Commons](https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc2)

Brief of Respondent Utah State University of Agriculture and Applied Science : Brief of

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

New Hampshire:

18. Opinion of the Justices, 175 A.2d 396, 398 (1961)

New Jersey:

19. Thornton v. Village of Ridgewood, 111 A.2d 899, 904 (1955)
20. Shebell v. Strelechi, 249 A.2d 10, 13 (Superior Ct., 1969)

North Carolina:

21. Rider v. Lenoir County, 78 S.E.2d 745, 748 (1953)
22. Horner v. Chamber of Commerce of City of Burlington, 72 S.E.2d 21 (1952)

South Carolina:

23. Town of Beenettsville v. Bledsoe, 845 E.2d 554, 556 (1954).

South Dakota:

24. Hauck v. Bull, 110 N.W.2d 506, 508 (1961)
25. Carlson v. City of Faith, 67 N.W.2d 149, 151 (1954)

Tennessee:

26. Crass v. Walls, 259 S.W.2d 670, 673 (Tenn. Ct. App., 1953)

Washington:

27. State v. Continental Baking Co., 431 P.2d 993, 996 (1967)

Wisconsin:

28. Leuch v. Egelhoff, 38 N.W.2d 1, 2-3 (1949)

E. THAT THE BROKERS IN MANY CASES WERE
ACTING ONLY AS AGENTS FOR THE SELLERS
IS NO BAR TO THESE ACTIONS.

Two of the brokers apparently never acted as principals in these transactions--that is, they never sold securities to the University out of their own inventories but always acted as brokers in putting the University together with willing sellers. All of the other brokers admit they were direct sellers in at least some transactions. Thus, the argument they raise concededly only applies to some of the University's purchases and even if successful, would not defeat these motions for partial summary judgment insofar as they embrace the direct sales by the brokers. Moreover, the University in any event can recover the commissions it paid directly to the brokers, which alone total in six figures. The brokers appear to concede this point. By doing so, they concede that this defense does not defeat a motion for judgment as to liability alone which by definition does not go to damages.

But even as to the transactions these appellants merely brokered, their contention must fail. Like most of their other defenses, this has been weighed and found wanting in First Equity. The Court's reasoning there is dispositive here:

Although this action was commenced and argued at the lower Court on the basis of breach of contract between the parties, plaintiff and Amici now contend that in any event plaintiff should be entitled to recover because they were acting as the agents of USU. Under the theory of agency, one of two things would occur; either the loss would have to be absorbed by the seller of the stocks who doesn't have the faintest idea that his stock is being purchased by a public corporation or the rules denying recovery on ultra vires contracts of a public corporation would be meaningless. Substantive rights involving public funds should not be determined by the custom of the securities industry in designating the broker as the agent of the buyer or as agent of the buyer and seller. The rules denying recovery of an ultra vires contract are based on the theory that the party actually dealing with the public entity is charged with the knowledge that the contract is ultra vires and unenforceable, and in this case the plaintiff is the party actually dealing with the public entity and this action was filed on that basis--that USU was a customer of First Equity. Pp. 892-893.

As already noted, the Amici just referred to were the brokers herein.

Bosworth attempts to distinguish First Equity on this point on the ground the broker there sought enforcement of the ultra vires contract, relying ostrich-like on the technical meaning of the language employed. But it gives no reason why the public interest underlying the result in First Equity does not compel the same result here.

None of the brokers' cases cited on this point help them since they all involve valid contracts and none involves the public policy considerations existing where a public body pays out tax monies under an ultra vires contract.

F. NEITHER THE SO-CALLED ILLEGALITY OF THESE CONTRACTS NOR THE FACT THAT PAYMENT WAS MADE UNDER A MISTAKE OF LAW PRECLUDE THESE SUITS

The brokers urge that the University should not be allowed to recover here because the "contracts" were executed even though they might be ultra vires. This part of their memorandum encompasses two distinct arguments: (1) these contracts were not only ultra vires and therefore void, they were also illegal so that the law will not assist the University in recovering its monies; and (2) the University paid monies voluntarily under a mistake of law for which there is no right of recovery. Both arguments are fallacious:

1. Assuming, arguendo, these contracts were illegal as opposed to being ultra vires, the rule contended for does not apply to the University.

Nowhere did the Utah Supreme Court in First Equity intimate that contracts to buy common stock were anything but ultra vires. The rule that payments made

under contracts which are illegal may not ordinarily be recovered where the parties are in pari delicto has not been said to apply to ultra vires contracts. Moreover, the "rule" has limited validity even as applied to illegal contracts. As stated in McCormick v. Life Insurance Corporation of America, 6 U.2d 170, 308 P.2d 949, 951 (1957):

. . . The Courts have carved out so many exceptions to the so-called "general rule" that it can hardly be properly so designated.

See also Second Russian Ins. Co. v. Miller, 268 U.S. 552, 562, 69 L.Ed. 1089, 1092 (1925). One of the many exceptions is stated in Corpus Juris Secundum as follows:

The ordinary rule governing individuals, that when a contract against public policy is executed, the law will leave the parties where it finds them, does not apply where the public is one of the parties. 17 C.J.S. Contracts, 1197

The same proposition is formulated in 2d American Jurisprudence, Contracts, Paragraph 225:

. . . where a state is an interested party to an action, the contributing guilt of the parties to the suit will not operate as a bar to the granting of relief to the state.

See also Gwinnett County v. Archer, 118 S.E.2d 97, 101 (Ga. App. 1960); City of Philadelphia v. Rosin's Parking Lot, 56 A.2d 207 (Penn. 1948); State v. Weatherby, 129

S.W.2d 887, 892 (Mo. 1939); Burke v. Wheeler County, 187 S.E. 246, 249 (Ga. App. 1936); Restatement, Contracts, Section 601, p. 1116 (1932), especially illustration 4. It can hardly be questioned that the plaintiff herein is suing on behalf of "the public," being the State of Utah, First Equity, p. 890. Indeed, this is conceded by the brokers. It follows that the University is not governed by the so-called "rule" urged here.

Because this Court in First Equity was not dealing with an illegal contract, the brokers' oft-repeated argument that the rationale behind the First Equity opinion precludes recovery in these cases is specious. The ground on which this Court decided First Equity was clearly not that it wished to leave the parties to an illegal contract where it found them but rather because it wished to safeguard public monies. That same ground dictates that recovery be allowed in these cases.

2. The rule barring recovery of money voluntarily paid under a mistake of law does not apply to payments made by the State.

The brokers rely on Section 45 of the Restatement of the Law of Restitution which, "[e]xcept as otherwise stated in Sections 46-55" bars recovery of monies

paid voluntarily under a mistake of law. Perhaps they did not read the noted exceptions to the rule. The first such exception found in Rule 46 states:

A person who has conferred a benefit upon another because of an erroneous belief induced by a mistake of law that he is under a duty so to do, is entitled to restitution as though the mistake were one of fact if:

(a) the benefit was conferred by a State or subdivision thereof. . . .

Of the rule which governs these lawsuits, the Court said in State v. Axtell, 393 P.2d 451, 454 (N.Mex. 1964):

The rule simply stated is:

"Payments of public money by officials made under a mistake of law may be recovered."

5 Williston on Contracts, rev. ed., Section 1590. Such a rule, although differently worded, is followed in practically every jurisdiction throughout the country. See 3 Corbin on Contracts, Section 617, and cases cited in footnote 65; and Restatement of the Law, Restitution, Section 46(a) and cases cited in the reporters notes. (Emphasis added.)

See the more extensive discussion of State v. Axtell, supra, p.26. As that Court noted, some 40 states follow the aforestated rule.

3. The brokers' reliance on two Utah cases involving the Millard County School District is misplaced.

After complaining that the University's collection of cases referred to in D, supra, consists mostly

of decisions earlier than 1950, the brokers place considerable emphasis on two cases out of Millard County decided in 1919 and 1932, respectively. These cases, they say, support their contrived theory that this Court's logic in First Equity would lead it to deny recovery here by leaving the parties where it found them. As to the 1919 case, Judge Christoffersen disposed of it as follows:

The defendants not only rely on the First Equity case but also other Utah cases and more specifically Moe v. Millard County School District, 170 P. 980. In this case, Moe entered into contracts with the school district for purchase and installation of heating and plumbing materials for which partial payment was made; Moe sued for the remaining purchase price. The district had exceeded the debt limitation of the state constitution and had not obtained a vote of the taxpayers required to exceed the limitation formula. Moe conceded he could not recover upon the contracts nor upon quantum meruit but the defendants here argue that because Moe was not required to return the partial payment this is authority that Utah State cannot recover payments made to the brokers on commissions or other losses. However, this would be a case where the school would enjoy the benefits of the plumbing and heating materials installed plus a return of their partial payment which is not the case here. The University does not seek to retain the stocks and receive back their payments for the same nor do they seek to retain the profits they may have made in stock transactions and recover only their losses, that any monies received by way of the contract would be offset against the losses. (Memorandum decision denying brokers' first round of Rule 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, July 6, 1977, Merrill Lynch, R. 395)

Although Judge Christoffersen perceived the crucial distinguishing feature of Moe, there is yet another reason why it is inapposite here. The School District resisted plaintiff's suit to recover the remaining purchase price on the ground the contracts were ultra vires in that at the time the contracts were entered the District had exceeded the debt limitation of the Constitution, and had not first obtained a vote of the taxpayers required to exceed the limitation formula. Plaintiff conceded that he could not recover upon the contracts nor upon quantum meruit, but argued that he should be allowed to remove all the plumbing and heating materials if he returned to the District the monies he had received as partial payment. The District claimed that the materials had become fixtures and could not be removed without harm to the building. In rejecting this defense, the Court noted that many of the items could be removed easily and without damaging the building. It then held that the contractors be permitted to remove so much of the materials in value as had not been paid for. It further stated:

. . . there is nothing to prevent the defendant school district from now . . . entering into a valid contract for the purchase of the materials as presently installed. 54 Utah 144, 150.

Judge Christoffersen thus could have added as an additional ground for not applying Moe the fact that the contracts there were not wholly outside the powers of the District to make but the District could have cured the temporary defect by entering new valid contracts. The contracts here, however, are ultra vires in the primary sense of being wholly outside the powers of the entity to make under the holding of the First Equity case.

The brokers also offer language from Millard School District v. State Bank of Millard County, 80 Utah 170, 185 (Utah, 1932). However, the contract in question there was outside the powers of a private corporation, not outside the powers of the school district. The language quoted is therefore completely inapplicable.

G. THESE TRANSACTIONS, BEING ULTRA VIRES,
CANNOT BE RATIFIED.

Bosworth--but not the four brokers--assert that the University ratified the purchase contracts, or at least a question of fact exists on this point. It is not necessary to determine if there is such a factual dispute since as a matter of law these ultra vires contracts cannot be ratified. The leading treatise states simply:

Contracts which a municipal corporation is not permitted legally to enter into are not subject to ratification [citing

scores of cases from 29 jurisdictions] . . .
McQuillin, Municipal Corporations (3rd Ed.),
Section 29.104(c), pp. 512-513.

The rationale for not applying traditional concepts of ratification law to these contracts should be obvious. Dishonest public officials otherwise could easily circumvent the prohibition against ultra vires contracts by the simple expedient of ratifying them.

Bosworth's cases are not helpful because they do not involve ultra vires contracts of public bodies.

H. THE UNIVERSITY IS NOT ESTOPPED FROM
SEEKING RECOVERY OF ITS LOSSES

The brokers place great emphasis on their argument that estoppel precludes any recovery here. Their argument fails because as a matter of law estoppel does not apply against a public body, at least in these circumstances. It also fails because even if estoppel were available, the brokers have not and cannot make out the facts necessary to give rise to an estoppel.

The brokers' reliance on estoppel is not new. As amicus curiae, they argued it unsuccessfully to this Court in First Equity. The Court stated:

" . . . All persons dealing with officers or agents of counties are bound to ascertain the limits of their authority or power as fixed by statutory or organic law, and are

chargeable with knowledge of such limits. No estoppel can be created by the acts of such agents or officers in excess of their statutory or constitutional powers."

For further authority for the proposition that "one who deals with a municipal corporation does so at his peril" see Thatcher Chemical Co. v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 21 Utah 2d 355, 455 P.2d 769 (1968) and cases cited therein.

If the enforcement of this rule at times appears harsh, it is a matter for the State Legislature to correct. P. 892.

Additional Utah authority that the government cannot be estopped is found in Petty v. Borg, 106 Utah 524, 150 P. 2d 776 (1944) in which the Court stated:

. . . the government is not bound or estopped by the acts of its officers or agents which are not within the scope of their authority so the doctrine of estoppel is of no aid to the defendant here.

See also 10 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, (1966 Rev. Vol.) Section 29.104c, p. 517, citing 22 cases from 17 jurisdictions.

The two Utah cases cited by the brokers herein^{20/} were cited by them as amici curiae in First Equity--but with no success. In Provo City v. Denver & Rio Grande Western, 156 F.2d 710 (10th Cir., 1946), the Court construed those two cases very narrowly. The Court said, at p. 712:

20/ Wall v. Salt Lake City, 50 Utah 593, 168 P. 766 (1917) and Tooele v. Elkington, 100 Utah 485, 116 P.2d 406 (1941).

These . . . cases, considered in their composite effect, seem to make it clear that in Utah the principle of estoppel in pais is to be applied very narrowly to a city in respect of its right to reopen a street for use as a public thoroughfare and only in cases where the city acted within the ambit of its legal authority but in an irregular way. . . .

In the appeal at bar, the University did more than act "within the ambit of its legal authority, but in an irregular way;" it acted completely outside the ambit of its legal authority.

The four brokers refer to the views of several commentators and state that the rule precluding the application of estoppel to the government is "now a largely discarded traditional view." Nowhere can support for this hyperbole be found. Even the brokers' leading critic of the estoppel rule--Professor K.C. Davis--admits that

. . . the courts usually hold that the doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply to the government.^{21/}

Professor Davis nowhere says the courts have abandoned or are abandoning this rule.^{22/} Recent cases he cites

21/ 2 K. Davis, Administrative Law Treatise, Section 17.01 at 491 (1958).

22/ Even in K. Davis, Administrative Law of the Seventies, he states: "Of course close and difficult problems of estoppel of states or cities still arise which can properly go either way." Paragraph 17.05, p. 409.

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